DA 10.5-93

SID J. WHITE ONE ME

MAY 24 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURE

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, an insurance corporation licensed to do business in the state of Florida,

CASE NO. 80,986

Petitioner,

v.

KEVIN PHILLIPS and KIMBERLY PHILLIPS (formerly known as Kimberly Scanato),

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

GEORGE A. VAKA, ESQUIRE
Florida Bar No. 374016
FOWLER, WHITE, GILLEN, BOGGS,
VILLAREAL & BANKER, P.A.
Post Office Box 1438
Tampa, Florida 33601
(813) 228-7411
ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Defendant/Petitioner, Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company, 2 states the Statement of the Case and Facts as follows:

This appeal arose from a final summary judgment entered in favor of the Plaintiffs and against Nationwide in which the trial court determined that the Plaintiffs were entitled to uninsured motorists (UM) benefits. (R. 159-160) The case began as a declaratory judgment action filed by the Plaintiffs against Nationwide. (R. 1-4) The Plaintiffs alleged that Nationwide had issued a motor vehicle insurance policy which contained UM coverage to the Plaintiffs. (R. 1-2) The complaint further claimed that on September 28, 1990, the Plaintiff, Kevin Phillips, was injured by virtue of the negligence of an uninsured motorist while the Plaintiff was riding a motorcycle. (R. 2) The complaint stated that Nationwide had denied coverage on the basis of Exclusion No. 4 contained in its policy, which excepted from UM coverage, all bodily injury suffered by an insured person while occupying a motor vehicle which was owned by the named insured or a relative living in the named insured's household, but not insured for UM coverage under the policy. (R. 2) The Plaintiffs maintained that the

For ease of reference herein, the Defendant/Petitioner, Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company, will be referred to as Nationwide. The Plaintiffs/Respondent, Kevin Phillips and Kimberly Phillips, f/k/a Kimberly Scanato, will be referred to as Plaintiffs or by name.

All references to the Record on Appeal will be referred to as (R) followed by citation to the appropriate page number of the Record on Appeal.

exclusion did not apply since Kevin Phillips was occupying a motorcycle and not a "motor vehicle" under Nationwide's policy or under Florida law. The Plaintiffs sought a declaration of their rights under the policy together with attorney's fees and costs. (R. 2-3)

In the alternative, the Plaintiffs alleged that Nationwide had not secured an informed rejection (sic) or selection of UM coverage with the limitation contained in its policy. (R. 2) The complaint further stated that Nationwide did not inform the named insured of the limitation on a form approved by the Department of Insurance as required by Fla. Stat. § 627.727. (R. 2)

Nationwide answered the complaint, admitting the court's jurisdiction, the occurrence of the accident while Kevin Phillips was operating the motorcycle, the existence of the policy, and that it afforded certain coverage to resident relatives of the named insured. (R. 6-7) Nationwide denied, however, that the policy afforded coverage for the accident and injuries resulting to Kevin Phillips and Kimberly Phillips and affirmatively stated that the claim was specifically excluded from coverage. (R. 7)

During the course of discovery, the Plaintiffs served a request for admissions upon Nationwide. (R. 8-10) Of significance to the Fifth District's decision, Nationwide admitted that it did not obtain from Kimberly Scanato a signed form acknowledging her acceptance of the exclusion of UM coverage relied upon by Nationwide. (R. 9, 15) Nationwide also admitted that it did not

obtain from Kevin Phillips a signed form acknowledging his acceptance of the exclusion to UM coverage. (R. 9, 15) Likewise, Nationwide admitted that it did not obtain an informed rejection of the limitation of UM coverage contained in its policy. (R. 9, 15) Finally, Nationwide admitted that it did not obtain from Kevin Phillips an informed rejection of the limitation of UM coverage contained within Nationwide's policy. (R. 9, 15)

A. THE POLICY

The policy at issue was Nationwide's Century II Auto Policy. (R. 27-54) The declarations page identified one vehicle, a 1982 Chevrolet Chevette, as the insured vehicle. (R. 28) The relevant exclusion to the uninsured motorists coverage is located at Page 9 of the policy and is Exclusion No. 4. (R. 36) That exclusion states:

This Uninsured Motorists insurance does not apply as follows:

4. It does not apply to bodily injury suffered while occupying a motor vehicle owned by you or a relative living in your household, but not insured for Uninsured Motorists coverage under this policy. It does not apply to bodily injury from being hit by any such vehicle.

Nationwide's policy likewise provided bodily injury liability coverage. The policy states in pertinent part:

PROPERTY DAMAGE AND BODILY INJURY LIABILITY COVERAGE

Under this coverage, if you become legally obligated to pay damages resulting from the ownership, maintenance, use, loading or unloading of your auto, we will pay for such damages. Anyone living in your household has this protection. Also protected is any person

or organization who is legally responsible for the use of your auto and uses it with your permission. This permission may be express or implied. . . .

(R. 32)

The liability coverage also has certain coverage extensions. (R. 32) With respect to the use of other motor vehicles, the policy provides:

USE OF OTHER MOTOR VEHICLES

Your auto's Property Damage and Bodily Injury Liability insurance applies to certain other motor vehicles:

- 1. It applies to a motor vehicle you do not own, while it substitutes temporarily for your auto. Your auto must be out of use because of breakdown, repair, servicing, loss, or destruction.
- 2. It applies to a four-wheel motor vehicle newly acquired by you. The coverage applies only during the first 30 days you own the vehicle, unless it replaces your auto. The coverage applies only if you do not have other collectible insurance. You must pay any additional premiums resulting from this extension of coverage.
- 3. It applies to a motor vehicle that belongs to someone who is not a member of your household. This protection applies only when the vehicle is being used by you or relatives living in It applies only in policies household. individual issued to persons organizations). It protects the user, and any person or organization who does own the vehicle but is legally responsible for its use. Protection does not extend to losses:
 - a) that involve use of a vehicle in the business or occupation of you or a relative living in your household,

except a private passenger auto used by you, your chauffeur or household employee.

b) that occur while the vehicle is furnished to you or a member of your household for regular use.

(R. 32)

The policy also contains certain relevant definitions. Of significance to this case are definitions numbers 1, 4, 6 and 7. Specifically, the policy includes the following:

In this policy:

- 1. The words "YOU" and "YOUR" mean or refer to the policyholder first named in the attached Declarations, and include that policyholder's spouse if living in the same household.
- 4. The words "YOUR AUTO" mean the vehicle or vehicles described in the attached Declarations.
- 6. The words "MOTOR VEHICLE" mean a land motor vehicle designed to be driven on public roads. They do not include vehicles operated on rails or crawlertreads. Other motor vehicles designed for use mainly off public roads are covered when used on public roads.
- 7. The word "OCCUPYING" means in, upon, entering, or alighting from a motor vehicle.

(R. 29)

The policy also contains Amendatory Endorsement No. 1877D. (R. 46-52) The only significance of the endorsement to this appeal is that it adds an additional coverage extension with respect to the automobile liability coverage previously discussed above. (R. 32) Specifically, the endorsement adds a new

subsection (c) to paragraph 3 of the use of the other motor vehicle coverage extension portion. The endorsements states:

USE OF OTHER MOTOR VEHICLES

The following is added to Item 3:

(c) involving a motor vehicle covered in Item (1) of this section.

(R.47)

B. <u>DISPOSITION</u>

Ultimately, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (R. 111-118)⁴ The trial court granted the Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment and denied Nationwide's motion for summary judgment. (R. 159-160) In doing so, the court found that Kevin Phillips was a Class I insured under Nationwide's policy and was entitled to UM coverage in accordance with Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971); Auto-Owners Insurance Co. v. Queen, 468 So.2d 498 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); Lewis v. Cincinnati Insurance Company, 503 So.2d 908 (Fla. 5th

Kimberly Phillips also filed an affidavit in support of her motion for summary judgment. She indicated that her maiden name was Kimberly Scanato, and under that name, Nationwide had issued its policy to her. (R. 114) She also admitted that the motorcycle involved in the accident belonged to her husband. (R. 115) She stated that prior to the time of the accident, she had not been informed by anyone of any coverage limitations or exclusions concerning uninsured motorists She likewise stated contained in the policy. (R. 115) that she did not sign any form in which she agreed to have any exclusions or limitations contained within her uninsured motorists coverage. (R. 115) Finally, Mrs. Phillips stated that after she and her husband, Kevin, were married, they attempted to procure insurance coverage on his motorcycle. One of the companies they contacted was Nationwide who declined to write such coverage. (R. 115)

DCA), <u>rev</u>. <u>den</u>., 511 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1987); and <u>Auto-Owners</u>

<u>Insurance Co. v. Bennett</u>, 466 So.2d 242 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

Nationwide filed its timely appeal of that final judgment. (R. 171) On appeal, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed the summary judgment entered in favor of Mr. and Mrs. Phillips and against Nationwide. Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Co. v. Phillips, 609 So.2d 1385 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). In affirming the summary judgment entered against Nationwide, the Fifth District based its holding on the conclusion that this Court's statement in Valiant Insurance Co. v. Webster, 567 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1990) that if the liability provisions of an auto policy did not apply to a given accident, the uninsured motorists provisions of that policy would not apply, was a misstatement of the rule announced in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). The Fifth District instead relied upon the dissenting opinion in Valiant and determined that if a claimant was insured for any purposes under an automobile liability policy, that person was likewise entitled to UM coverage and that an insurer could not exclude that claimant from UM coverage as a matter of law. Fifth District also held that no restriction in an UM policy could be enforceable unless the insured had elected the coverage provided in Fla. Stat. § 627.727(9) and had received an appropriate reduction in premium in accordance with that selection. of April 26, 1993, this Court accepted jurisdiction following the filing of a timely notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction.

ISSUE ON APPEAL

I.

WHETHER AN AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE POLICY WHICH INCLUDES UNINSURED MOTORISTS COVERAGE PURSUANT TO <u>FLA. STAT.</u> § 627.727(1) MAY PERMISSIBLY EXCLUDE UNINSURED MOTORISTS COVERAGE FOR A PARTICULAR ACCIDENT WHERE THE LIABILITY PROVISIONS OF THAT POLICY DO NOT APPLY TO THE ACCIDENT?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The issue involved in this case is straightforward. It may be resolved by resorting to long-standing precedents and the appropriate rules of statutory interpretation. The decision of the Fifth District below appears to have overlooked these basic principles. This Court should quash the decision of the Fifth District with instructions on remand to enter judgment in favor of Nationwide.

When construing UM policies and the UM statute, this Court has long held that UM coverage is intended to provide the reciprocal or mutual equivalent of automobile liability insurance coverage prescribed by the Financial Responsibility Law. See, Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). Such coverage must be provided for "persons insured thereunder" in the minimum amounts prescribed by the statute. The term "persons insured thereunder" are those persons who are required to be insured by virtue of Chapter 324, Florida Statutes.

In <u>Valiant Insurance Co. v. Webster</u>, 567 So.2d 408, 410 (Fla. 1990), this Court re-emphasized its previous announcement of the rule in <u>Mullis</u>. The <u>Valiant</u> majority stated:

Since our decision in <u>Mullis</u>, the courts have consistently followed the principle that if the liability portions of an insurance policy would be applicable to a particular accident, the uninsured motorists provisions would likewise be applicable; whereas, if the liability provisions did not apply to a given accident, the uninsured motorists provisions of that policy would also not apply (except with respect to occupants of the insured automobile). [citations omitted]

The <u>Valiant</u> majority also emphasized the words "persons insured" as used in the UM statute were the same persons required to be insured under a liability policy issued pursuant to the Financial Responsibility Law.

Other Florida District Courts of Appeal, faced with the question of whether there is UM coverage for a resident relative of the named insured who is injured while occupying a vehicle not insured under the policy from which they are seeking UM coverage, have utilized the analysis to determine whether such coverage may be properly excluded. The focus of those courts has been whether the policies provide basic liability insurance coverage for the accident for the person seeking UM coverage. If no liability coverage is provided, the insurer has no corresponding obligation to provide that person with corresponding UM coverage. See, e.g., Bolin v. Massachusetts Bay Insurance Co., 518 So.2d 393 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987); Government Employees Insurance Co. v. Wright, 543 So.2d 1320 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. den., 551 So.2d 464 (Fla. 1989).

In the present case, the Fifth District simply chose not to apply those long-standing principles. It determined that Nationwide could not exclude coverage to Mr. Phillips even though he would not be provided liability coverage for the operation of his motorcycle under the policy issued to his new wife. Instead, that court determined that simply because Mr. Phillips was a resident relative of Nationwide's named insured, Nationwide was required to provide him with uninsured motorists coverage under any and all circumstances.

The Fifth District also attempted to justify its decision based upon its interpretation of Fla. Stat. § 627.727(9). To reach the conclusion that it did, the court was required to ignore the clear language of Fla. Stat. § 627.727(1) which identifies which policies must provide UM coverage and to whom it must be provided. The court instead relied upon an aspect of the UM statute which provides an alternative, more restricted form of UM coverage. That statutory section does not purport to broaden the scope of policies to which UM coverage must be provided, nor does it broaden the scope of persons to whom UM coverage must be provided. The interpretation of the statute by the Fifth District has now created irreconcilable conflict among the two provisions. Had the Fifth District simply resorted to well-established principles concerning statutory interpretation, that conflict could have easily been avoided.

This Court should quash the decision of the Fifth District below with directions that on remand, it should order the trial judge to enter judgment in favor of Nationwide.

ARGUMENT

I.

AN AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE POLICY WHICH INCLUDES UNINSURED MOTORISTS COVERAGE PURSUANT TO FLA. STAT. § 627.727(1) MAY PERMISSIBLY EXCLUDE UNINSURED MOTORISTS COVERAGE FOR A PARTICULAR ACCIDENT WHERE THE LIABILITY PROVISIONS OF THAT POLICY DO NOT APPLY TO THE ACCIDENT.

This case is not complicated. The material facts are not disputed. The case simply involves the construction of Fla. Stat. § 627.727, Nationwide's policy of automobile insurance and whether it was required to provide UM coverage to Kevin Phillips when he was injured while riding his own motorcycle which was not insured under Nationwide's policy. Here, even the Fifth District acknowledged that Nationwide's liability coverage did not apply to the operation of Kevin Phillips' motorcycle. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co. v. Phillips, 609 So.2d 1385, 1387 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). Likewise, the court appeared to conclude that Nationwide's Exclusion No. 4 was applied to Mr. Phillips' claim, there would not be any UM coverage available to him. Id. at 1389-Rather than enforcing the clear language of Nationwide's policy, however, the Fifth District ruled that Mr. Phillips was a Class I insured under Nationwide's policy and as such, entitled to UM coverage no matter what vehicle he was occupying at the time of his accident. According to the Fifth District, the analysis urged by Nationwide was a new liability coverage analysis and contrary to the analysis adopted by this Court in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). also ruled that since Nationwide's named insured had not elected the alternative UM coverage outlined in <u>Fla. Stat</u> § 627.727(9), Nationwide was precluded from excluding UM coverage to her husband when he was injured while operating a vehicle not insured under the policy. With all due respect to the Fifth District, neither conclusion is correct, and this Court should quash the decision with instructions to the Fifth District to direct the trial court to enter judgment in favor of Nationwide.

Florida courts have often analyzed automobile insurance policies to determine whether an insurer may permissibly exclude UM coverage for any given accident. This court's decision in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971) has been recognized as the "polestar" decision concerning uninsured motorists coverage. As such, it provides the logical starting place for any analysis of Nationwide's policy and whether Exclusion No. 4 is permissible under Florida law.

In <u>Mullis</u>, Richard Mullis, the resident son of State Farm's insured, Shelby Mullis, was injured by the negligence of an uninsured motorist, while operating a Honda motorcycle which was owned by his mother, and not insured under State Farm's policy. Mullis demanded arbitration under State Farm's policy. State Farm refused arbitration. State Farm's UM coverage provided that the company would pay all sums which the insured was legally entitled to recover as damages from the owner or operator of an uninsured automobile because of bodily injuries sustained by the insured and

See, Florida Farm Bureau Casualty Co. v. Hurtado, 587 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 1991).

caused by an accident with the uninsured automobile. State Farm's policy defined the term "insured" to mean the first person named in the declarations and while residents of his household, his spouse and the relatives of either. <u>Id</u>. at 231. State Farm's policy contained Exclusion (b) which read as follows:

Insuring Agreement III does not apply:

(b) To bodily injury to an insured while occupying or through being struck by a land motor vehicle owned by the named insured or any resident of the same household, if such vehicle is not an insured automobile;

Id. at 231.

Both the trial court and the First District determined that State Farm's exclusion was enforceable and that Mullis was not entitled to any UM coverage. This Court quashed the decision of the First District and determined that the exclusion was contrary to Fla. Stat. § 627.0851, the then-existing UM statute.

This Court explained that the UM statute provided that no automobile liability policy shall be issued with respect to any motor vehicle registered or garaged in Florida unless coverage was provided therein "in not less than the limits described in § 324.021(7) Fla. Stat. . . . for the protection of persons insured thereunder who are legally entitled to recover damages from owners or operators of uninsured motor vehicles because of bodily injury, sickness or disease . . . " Id. at 232. This Court explained that the term "persons insured" thereunder in an automobile liability insurance policy as contemplated by Chapter 324, Fla. Stat., the Financial Responsibility Law, ordinarily were the owner or operator

of the automobile, his spouse and other members of his family resident in the household and others occupying the insured automobile with the owner's permission. As to those persons, they were protected by the policy from liability to others due to injuries they inflicted by their negligent operation of the automobile. Reciprocally, those same persons were protected by the uninsured motorists statute in the same policy from bodily injury caused by the negligence of uninsured motorists.

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