OA 10.5-93/

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED32

JUN 14 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURTS

By Chief Deputy Clerk

NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, an insurance corporation licensed to do business

in the state of Florida,

S.C. CASE NO. 80, 986 DCA CASE NO. 92-00270

Petitioner,

v.

KEVIN PHILLIPS and KIMBERLY PHILLIPS (formerly known as Kimberly Scanato),

Respondents.

Original

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

PAUL B. IRVIN, ESQ.
Florida Bar No. 285961
Troutman, Williams, Irvin,
Green & Helms, P.A.
311 West Fairbanks Avenue
Winter Park, Florida 32789
407/647-2277
Attorneys for Respondents

#

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Once again, the Plaintiffs would agree with Nationwide that the issue involved in this case is not complicated. It involves the most basic application of the recognized "polestar" case of Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), which held invalid the same exclusion Nationwide is relying upon in this case.

Nationwide, in its initial brief (and, in fact, throughout this litigation), has been unable to point to any material fact which would distinguish this case from the facts which existed in Mullis. Under the material policy provisions, both Mr. Mullis and Mr. Phillips were Class-One insured under the policies in question. Both Mr. Mullis and Mr. Phillips were injured while riding motorcycles which were not covered vehicles under the policies in question. State Farm's exclusion to uninsured motorist coverage was the same exclusion that Nationwide is relying upon to deny coverage in this case. Nationwide cannot point to any material fact differences in these cases because there simply are none.

This court has recently reaffirmed the <u>Mullis</u> holding that Class-One insureds are the named insured and resident relatives of the named insured and that such insureds are covered "regardless of their location when they are injured by an uninsured motorist." <u>Florida Farm Bureau Cas. Co. v. Hurtado</u>, 587 So.2d 1314, 1318-1319 (Fla. 1991). Thus, it is obvious that this court's decision in <u>Valiant Ins. Co. v. Webster</u>, 567 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1990) did not

overrule or modify the holding in <u>Mullis</u>. Nationwide wisely agrees with this position (see initial brief at pages 13-16, 27) and furthermore, it does not advocate that the holding in <u>Mullis</u> should be modified.

Since the material facts in this case are indistinguishable from Mullis and it is agreed that Mullis is still controlling law, there is no reason why the outcome of this case should be any different from that which occurred in Mullis. That is, that the same exclusion to uninsured motorist coverage should be invalid, thereby allowing the Plaintiffs access to their coverage which they purchased from Nationwide.

Due to the clear controlling precedent of <u>Mullis</u>, the district court opinions applying the <u>Mullis</u> rule are not particularly relevant. However, those cases add additional support to the Plaintiffs' position, since they have invalidated "owned auto" exclusions to uninsured motorist coverage where the claimant was generally insured under the policy. It is clear that Mr. Phillips, having the same status as the named insured, is generally insured under Nationwide's policy.

Nationwide cannot rely upon <u>Fla. Stat</u>. §627.727(9) since it did not comply with the requirements of obtaining an informed acknowledgement signed by the insured and charging a lesser premium.

The cogent decision of the Fifth District should be affirmed.

### ARGUMENT

AN AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE POLICY ISSUED PURSUANT TO FLA. STAT. §627.727(1) MAY NOT EXCLUDE UNINSURED MOTORIST COVERAGE TO A CLASS-ONE INSURED MERELY BECAUSE HE IS INJURED WHILE OCCUPYING A MOTOR VEHICLE OWNED BY HIM BUT NOT INSURED THE POLICY.

As stated by Nationwide, this case is not complicated. As recognized by the Court below, the decision in this case simply involves the direct application of this court's "polestar" holding in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). As will be shown, the facts in Mullis are indistinguishable from the facts in this case. Mullis has not been overruled or receded from by this court. Therefore, in accordance with the most basic tenant of common law, the doctrine of stare decisis, Nationwide's exclusion must be held invalid.

As correctly summarized by Nationwide, in <u>Mullis</u>, Richard Mullis, a resident relative of State Farm's named insured, was injured by the negligence of an uninsured motorist while operating a motorcycle which was owned by his mother and not insured under State Farm's policy. Likewise, Mr. Phillips, the spouse of Nationwide's named insured, was injured by the negligence of a uninsured motorist while operating a motorcycle which was owned by him and not insured under Nationwide's policy.

As the underlying facts of these accidents do not differ, the material portions of the insurance policies also do not differ.

The only language in State Farm's policy examined by the court in <u>Mullis</u> were the uninsured motorist provisions. The court summarized the material portions of State Farm's policies by stating:

"To summarize, the policies provide for uninsured motorist family protection for the members of the Mullis family household, subject to the exclusion that this coverage is not applicable if the bodily injury caused by the negligence of an uninsured motorist occurs while the injured member of the family is occupying another motor vehicle owned by Shelby Mullis or an insured member of his household that is not covered by said automobile liability policies issued to Shelby Mullis. <u>Id</u>. at P. 231, 232.

Nationwide's uninsured motorist coverage applies to precisely the same extent. As noted in the Plaintiffs' Statement of the Case and Facts, Nationwide agreed to pay bodily injury damages that "you" or "relatives living in your household" are legally entitled to recover from the owner or driver of an uninsured motor vehicle. The term "you" and "your" as used in Nationwide's policy include the policyholder (in this case, Mrs. Phillips) as well as the spouse of the policyholder while residing in the same household. (R. 29). Therefore, since he is included within the definition of "you," Mr. Phillips is extended coverage to the same extent as his wife, who was the policyholder or named insured under the policy. Furthermore, Nationwide's definition section makes it clear that Phillips would be considered "an insured" since he "specifically indicated as entitled to protection under the coverage being described." (R. 29). Furthermore, as in the State Farm policy, Nationwide's policy recognizes two classes

insureds. The first class (or Class-One) being "you" and "relatives living in your household" and the second class (or "Class-Two") being those who are covered only if in the insured auto or certain other specifically described motor vehicles. Mr. Phillips clearly falls within the Class-One category, both because he fits within the definition of "you" as well as being a resident-relative of the named insured.

It is equally clear that the exclusion invalidated in <u>Mullis</u> is the same exclusion being asserted by Nationwide in this case. Both exclusions attempt to make uninsured motorist coverage unavailable to a Class-One insured if the bodily injury cause by negligence of a uninsured motorist occurs while the injured member of the family is occupying another vehicle owned by a member of the household that is not covered under the policy.

It is vitally important to note that the court in <u>Mullis</u> did not even consider the liability portions of State Farm's insurance policy. In fact, Mr. Mullis had specifically pled in his Complaint that the motorcycle he was operating at the time of his accident was not covered by State Farm's insurance policy. <u>Id</u>. at 231. There is not one word in the <u>Mullis</u> opinion which could lead to a conclusion that State Farm's liability coverage would have been applicable to Mr. Mullis' accident had he been at fault.

There is no reason to reanalyze the interplay between the Uninsured Motorist Statute and the Financial Responsibility Law as undertaken by Nationwide. The <u>Mullis</u> opinion already determined, to the extent necessary, the relationship between these two

The court clearly, and unequivocally determined that statutes. those required to be covered for "uninsured motorist coverage or family protection" regardless of their location when injured by an uninsured motorist are the named insured, his spouse and residentrelatives of either. Mullis, Id. at 232 and 233. repeated this holding in the portion of the opinion quoted by Nationwide on page 15 of its brief. In that summary, the court distinctly held that the uninsured motorist statute requires coverage for the named insured and resident relatives and that no policy exclusions contrary to this statute of any of the "class of family insureds" are permissible. As if this wasn't clear enough, the court recapitulated its holding by stating that the statute The first class requires coverage of two classes of insureds. including the named insured, his wife, and members of their family as long as they are residents of their household. The second class being others who are covered only while they are occupants of one of the insured automobiles. The court then went on to state as follows:

> Richard Lamar Mullis is a member of the first class; as such, he is covered by uninsured motorist liability protection issued pursuant §627.0851 [now 627.727] **whenever** supplied original) wherever (emphasis in bodily injury is inflicted upon him by the negligence of an uninsured motorist. He would be covered thereby whenever he is injured while walking, or while riding in motor vehicles, or in public conveyances, including uninsured motor vehicles (including Honda motorcycles) owned by a member of the first class of insureds. Neither can an insured family member be excluded from such protection because of age, sex, or color of hair. other conclusion would be inconsistent with

the intention of §627.0851 [now 627.727]. It was enacted to provide relief to innocent persons who are injured through the negligence of an uninsured motorist; it is not be "whittled away" by exclusions and exceptions. Id. at 238.

Wisely, Nationwide does not argue that this holding has been, or even should be, overruled. (Initial brief at pages 13-16, 27) Even this court's opinion in Valiant Ins. Co. v. Webster, 567 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1990), upon which Nationwide puts so much reliance, recognized Mullis as the "polestar" in determining the extent to which the state requires uninsured motorist coverage to be provided. Furthermore, after Valiant and less than two years ago, this court, in its opinion in Florida Farm Bureau Cas. Co. v. Hurtado, 587 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 1991), quoted extensively, and favorably, from Mullis. That opinion re-emphasized the Mullis holding by stating:

"Subsequent cases recognized and applied the Mullis class distinction: class one consisting of the named insured and resident family members; and class two consisting of those who are insured only because they are drivers or passengers in an insured vehicle with the consent of the named insured. See, e.g., Florida Ins. Guar. Ass'n v. Johnson, 392 So.2d 1348 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Hunt v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co., 349 So.3d 642 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); Travelers Ins. Co. v. Pac, 337 So.2d (Fla. 2d DCA 1976), cert. denied, 351 So.2d 407 (Fla. 1977).

The court then went on to reaffirm the <u>Mullis</u> directive that "Class-One insureds are covered regardless of their location when they are injured by an uninsured motorist." <u>Id</u>. at pages 1318-1319.

Therefore, as clearly held by this court in Mullis and Hurtado, Class-One insureds consist of the named insured and resident family members. Despite this overwhelming precedent, and the language in its own policy, Nationwide appears to argue that Mr. Phillips was not a Class-One insured because of the vehicle he was occupying at the time of the accident. Of course, it makes no sense to say that a Class-One insured will be covered regardless of his location when injured by an uninsured motorist and then to say that someone is not a Class-One insured because of their location at the time of the accident. It also must be remembered that Nationwide's argument would exclude coverage to Mrs. Phillips, its named insured, under these same circumstances. under its argument, it simply has no Class-One insureds under this policy. This is clearly contrary to the Uninsured Motorist Statute and more than twenty years of uninsured motorist coverage law in this state.

Nationwide's position that this court's opinion in <u>Valiant</u> somehow supports this illogical concept, is totally misplaced. The holding of the <u>Valiant</u> case is that, in the context of a wrongful death claim, a survivor could not recover from his uninsured motorist carrier where the decedent clearly was not an insured under the policy. The one sentence in that opinion relied upon by Nationwide was not the <u>holding</u> of the <u>Valiant</u> majority and, in fact, was not even crucial to its reasoning that a survivor cannot recover under an uninsured motorist policy where the decedent (had he survived) could not have recovered. Contrary to Nationwide's

position, the Court below did not rely upon the dissenting opinions in <u>Valiant</u>, but simply recognized that the holding of the majority in <u>Valiant</u> had no application to this case which is so clearly controlled by the holding of <u>Mullis</u>. However, the dissent in <u>Valiant</u> correctly observed that there is no authority for the statement that "if the liability provisions do not apply to a given accident, the uninsured motorist provisions of that policy would also not apply." <u>Valiant</u>, at 412 fn. 3. It is interesting that in the <u>Valiant</u> opinion, as in <u>Mullis</u>, the liability portions of the policy were not addressed.

Nationwide's argument that its uninsured motorist coverage only applies to particular vehicles, simply has no support from the decisions of this court. For instance, in <u>Coleman v. Florida Insurance Guaranty Ass'n</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 517 So.2d 686, 689 (Fla. 1988), this court, in a unanimous opinion, stated unequivocally:

"Uninsured motorist protection does not inure to a particular motor vehicle, but instead protects the named insured or insured members of his family against bodily injury inflicted by the negligence of any uninsured motorist under whatever conditions, locations, circumstances any of such insureds happen to be in at the time. See, Mullis v. State FArm Mutual Auto Insurance Co., 252 So.2d 299 (Fla. v. Government Employees Tucker Insurance Co., 288 So.2d 238, 242 (Fla. 1973). Thus, the insured may be a pedestrian at the time of such injury, riding in motor vehicles others or in public conveyances occupying motor vehicles owned by but which are not "insured automobiles" of the named insured. Mullis, 252 So.2d at 233. this aspect of uninsured motorist coverage which gives rise to aggregation or "stacking" of uninsured motorist converges. The owner of several vehicles, by paying a single premium for coverage applicable to only one of them,

secures coverage for himself and his family while occupying the uninsured vehicles as well as the insured vehicle." (emphasis supplied)

See also, Heinz v. Wausau Underwriters Ins. Co., 408 So.2d 772 (Fla. 2DCA 1982) and Travelers Ins. Co. v. Spencer, 397 So.2d 358 (Fla. 1DCA 1981) (Uninsured motorist coverage is personal to an insured and differs from liability coverage in that it does not attach to a specific vehicle.)

Nationwide's argument that at the 1984 amendment to the Uninsured Motorist Statute supports its analysis is also misplaced. (See, initial brief at Pages 33-34). The language quoted by Nationwide only defines, more specifically, the types of motor vehicle liability policies to which the Statute applies. The Legislature merely clarified that the statute does not mandate uninsured motor coverage to a general liability policy. It plainly did not limit the extent of coverage required to be provided to an insured under a policy issued on a specifically identified motor vehicle, such as Nationwide's policy in this case. Although the statute is not ambiguous on this point, any possible doubt can be resolved by reference to the House Staff Summary and Analysis, which is appended to this brief. This report states on page 3:

"The Bill limits the applicability of the uninsured motorist requirements to liability policies covering specifically insured or identified motor vehicles. This would exempt from the statutes' requirements comprehensive general liability policies or special multiperil policies which provide coverage for many types of liability of an insured (usually a business) but which do not specifically identify vehicles that are covered."

Certainly, this amendment did not, as Nationwide appears to argue,

overrule the existing law that Class-One insureds are covered "whenever or wherever" they are injured by an uninsured motorist.

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